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OF JACK RUBY 
court, hoping to catch a glimpse into the minds of both a murderer 

By Edward Linn 

The St. Patrick's Day parade was held in Dallas on Saturday, 
March 14, anticipating the actual holiday date by three days in 
order to have the run of the relatively trafficless downtown streets. 
Only a few hundred people lined the sidewalks as a green-uniformed 

band and a thin column of paraders moved slowly up Main Street 
and past the courthouse, March 14 was also the day on which the 
fate of Jack Ruby was handed over to the jury. As Bill Alexander, 
the assistant D.A., came to the courthouse, he cocked an eye at 
the passing parade. “Dallas is sure crowding its luck,” he said, 
pushing his Stetson to the back of his head, “holding another 
parade for an Irisher.” 

The jury had begun its deliberations at 9:15 a.m. At [1:35 a 
call came up to the D.A.’s office for District Attorney Henry 
Wade. Wade wasn’t there. A minute later an excited assistant 
D.A. called in, “We've got ourselves a verdict. They've knocked.” 

The press lined up outside the courtroom, while everybody 
waited for Judge Joe B. Brown to drive in from his home. Bill 

Alexander came walking through, and when someone asked him 
What_he thou thought the verdict we would be, he jerked his tie up over 

his head and ead and made the gargling sound-of amar being] hanged. BY 
a L special ruling of Judge Brown, a camera had been set up at the 
back of the room to record the verdict. The last circle had closed. 
The case would end as it had begun—on national television. 

Defense Attorney Mel Belli, who is usually dressed like a show 
horse, walked into the courtroom wearing a black suit and a black 
sport shirt buttoned to the neck. He looked for all the world like a 
priest-hangman. “This is going to be rough,” he told Ruby. 
“They're a bunch of no-good bastards. Whatever it is, we'll ap- 
peal. You just sit back, Jack. I'm going to take it, not you.” 

The jury filed into the box, looking grim. The hands of the 
juror in the near corner of the back row were trembling as Judge 
Brown read the verdict. For all the emotion in his voice, Judge 
Brown might have been reading the temperature-humidity index. 
“We the jury find the defendant guilty of murder with malice as 

charged in the indictment and assess his punishment as death.” 
Jack Ruby’s eyes blinked. The blood drained out of his already 

white and sunken face. He bit his lip. As Belli leaped up in his 
hangman’s suit to shout to the jury, Ruby started to rise from his 
seat—dazed and dutiful—as if he thought that perhaps he was 
supposed to be on his feet too. The hands of two guards shot out 
quickly to press him down. 

“May I thank this jury for a victory for bigotry. . . .”’ Belli 
shouted. As Ruby was led past him, Belli yelled, “Don’t worry, 

Jack, We'll appeal. We'll appeal to the highest court in the land.” 
For five weary weeks the nation’s attention had been focused on 

that Dallas courtroom in the hope—however illogical—that a 

and his notorious victim. 



glimpse into the mind of Jack Ruby, who had performed one ir- 
rational act, might provide a faint glimpse into the mind of his 
victim, Lee Oswald, who had performed another, 

But the trial fizzled. The defense did not show Ruby’s mind; 
they showed only a literal recording of his brain waves. There was 
no psychiatric testimony that went much deeper than the pity- 
the-poor-boy-who-never-had-anybody-to-love-him level, The Bat- 
tle of the Psychiatrists, for which we were waiting so anxiously, 
turned into nothing more than a mild disagreement among tech- 
nicians, a quibble over some squibbles on a piece of paper. The 
best exhibit for insanity was Jack Ruby himself, sitting there all 
those weeks with a frozen, waxen look of agony on his face. 

Jack Ruby entered the courtroom a stranger. He was a North- 
erner in the South, a Jew among Christians, a Striptease-joint 
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Trial of Jack Ruby 

Operator among the Baptists. He was a 
Spectator in a game played among three 

contestants, the two lawyers and the 
judge, Ruby, like the defendant in any 
murder trial, became little more than a 
wax figure, depersonalized, dehumanized, 

dejuiced. Ruby, accustomed throughout 

his life to hitting out when he felt himself 
in danger, became that saddest of all 
things: the man of action delivered into 
the hands of the talkers. He had to sit | 
there through those endless days and 
listen to that endless talk, that Niagara of 
talk on which his life depended. 

Most of all he was an outcast because 
he was being tried, when all was said and 
done, for interfering with the due process 
of law. Jack Ruby’s crime was not so 

much that he had killed an assassin but 
that he was a body snatcher. The body 

of a criminal belongs to the court no less 
than the body of a dead man belongs to 
the church. 

The prosecution’s line of attack was 

that Ruby had killed Oswald because he 
expected fame and glory, a line which 

they had every reason to believe. Al- 
though they were never able to bring it 
out at the trial, they knew t_upon be- 
ing transported to the county jail, Jack 
had told Jim Leavelle, the same officer to 
whom Oswald had been handcuffed, “T 
just wanted to be a goddamned hero, and 
all Cdone-was Toul-things up. _ 

Jack told his first visitors, his closest 
friends, the same thing. But when a man 
in Jack's position-yolunteers what seems 
to be the most damaging possible adn is- 

ing 
vent anyone, including himself, from dis- 
covéring the real—and to him far more 
painful and shamefil—reason;—--— 

Within 15 minutes of the time he killed 

Oswald, Jack Ruby had given an equally 

ong_sign_of premeditation by” telling 
Sgt. Pat Dean, “I-wanted_ta_show the _ 
world that Jews do have guts.” 

“You know, ing that it 
wasn’t really what he meant,” Dean told 
me later. “It was just so ambiguous the 
way it came out, so out of place.” 

There is one big hole in the argument 
that Ruby did it for glory. Everybody 
who had seen Ruby—including the prose- 
cution's own witnesses—agreed that he 
did go into a state of deep and inconsol- 
able grief upon hearing that Kennedy was 
dead. During the trial itself, any mention 
of_the_assassinati if je 
Kennedy and the children, would bring 

irs to Ruby's eyes, tears to 'S 
“In the early days, when Ruby was being 

interviewed before every session, he was 
still choking up with gri he 
had to talk about Kennedy. It became ap- 
parent that nobod. i 

an_act that successfully. It also becanie 
apparent that something was very wrong 
and even very unnatural. Something that 
went beyond the mere act of crying. No- 
body grieves that much for a stranger, 
even if the stranger happens to be the 
President of the United States, You grieve 
that much for only one person. Yourself. 

You don’t set out to avenge a stranger 
either. You avenge only yourself. 

In hindsight, the real tragedy of the 
trial may have been that the kind of de- 
fense that would have told us what we 
wanted to know about Ruby was also 
quite possibly the defense that might have 
saved him. To get Ruby off on an in- 
sanity plea, the defense had to show 
that the murder of President Kennedy set 
off in Jack Ruby the already emerging 
memories of 2 time in his life when he 



himself felt that his life had come to an 
end. The defense, in short, had to show 
that Ruby grieved for himself to the point 
where there developed a confusion of 
identity in which he drifted back and 

forth between Kennedy’s death and his 

own-until they. became so-interwoven, so 
inseparable, that he had lost all contact 
With reality. Which means that he did not 
khow right from wrong, the only test of 

insanity under Texas law. 
There's nothing so farfetched about 

that. The murder of Kennedy did, in fact, 

set off precisely this kind of crisis in men- 
tal hospitals all over the country. And 

not only in mental hospitals. The assas- 

Ruby, left, Tonahill and Belli, 

sination practically immobilized the na- 
tion for several days, as we sat down and 

pondered our own mortality, our own 
inexcusable failings, and our own wasted 

lives. Because—and we all felt it to some 
degree or other—if the man who had 
everything could be wiped out in a second 

_ at the whim of some miserable little mis- 
fit, we knew how vulnerable we were. We 

were all brought face-to-face in broad 

daylight with those intimations of mor- 
tality that normally come only in the 
dead of night. 

And there was one other thing that 

would invariably bring the tears to Jack 
Ruby’s eyes. A reference to the breakup 
of his own family when he was 12 years 

old, In the by-lined series of articles he 
dictated from his jail cell before the trial, 

Ruby told how he had been shipped off 
to a farm. “And I died there,” he said, 

Ruby, in his floating, troubled state, 
did everything except shout out his con- 
fusion. “The poor children;” he said 
after Kennedy was shot “Those poor, 

fatherlesscchitdren”” When be was frst 
told of the murder on Friday afternoon, 

Nonete 2 Bee eee 
the Dallas News, fis first words were, 

“My ite is over.” Not Kennedy's life; 

: sister he said, “Tam dead.” 

0 complete the picture, the 
had to show that there was something 

about Oswald himself, about his physical 
presence, that would provide the final 

spark to set Ruby off. In talking to the 

defense psychiatrist or the police, Ruby 

used pretty much the same terms about 

Oswald: “a smirking, arrogant Com- 

munist .. . cunning and vicious... . I 
felt like 1 was looking at a rat.” 

There was a curious thing that hap- 

pened during the trial. As Ruby shriveled 

before our eyes, growing thinner and thin- 

ner by the day, he began to look more 

and more like Oswald. Not only in the 

contours of his features but in the way he 

held his head and pursed his lips, in the 

expression around his eyes and mouth. 

Melvin Belli himself noticed it from the 
beginning. One day during noon recess, 

he held the pictures of the two men side 

by side, shook his head in wonder and 

disbelief, and said, “The resemblance 

between these two guys is just incredible.” 

From beginning to end, Ruby was his 
own best exhibit. Nobody claimed that he 

Was not unstable, He was a man who sur- 
rounded himself with dogs and insisted 

that they be treated with respect. “Don't 

call them ‘dogs,’ he'd tell his friends an- 

grily. “These are my children, and chil- 

dren should be treated with respect.”’ His 
favorite dog, Sheba, he called “my wife.” 

Ruby's rabbi, Hillel Silverman, recalls 
a@ conversation, “We were standing on 

my front lawn talking. The dogs were 

running all around. I said something 

about them, and he broKe down in so 8 

only FeAl Tainily he had.” 
uby, in his ni ering way, had told 

Dr. Manfred Guttmacher, a defense psy- 
chiatrist, “If only I had been held at the 
Western Union office a few minutes 
longer, this never would've happened. . . . 

If only I'd been able to get married, this 
never would’ve happened.” 

On the stand, Doctor Guttmacher re- 
lated this as an example of the discon- 
nected thought processes that indicated 

brain damage. “The first part of it made 
sense,” Doctor Guttmacher said, “but 
the second. . . .”" Then he paused and 

said, “I did have the feeling that there 

was something more in there... .”" 
There was, of course. In order to kill 

Oswald, Ruby obviously had to be where 
Oswald was, not in the Western Union 
office. In order to get married, he would 
have had to be aman capable of marryi 8 

@ woman and raising cnuaren, in_ouie 
words, he was telling the psychiatrist that 
if he had pot “died™ Before he had a 
chance to become a man, there would 
have been no need to avenge himself. 

For weeks Ruby remained in that sort 
of floating state, in which almost every- 
thing he said seemed to have this double 
meaning—once you made the assumption 
that he was involved, subconsciously, with 
his own lost life. Everything he said fitted 

into the pattern. Even the slight amount 

of information about his life and his talks 
with psychiatrists that came out of the 
trial screamed for interpretation. 

Mel Belli hired Dr. Roy Schafer of 

Yale University to give Ruby a battery of # 

psychological tests to find out whether 

Ruby was suffering from any physical or, 
mental disorders. In one test Ruby was 
told to assemble 33 different objects in 

logical groups. Schafer concluded that! 
Ruby_shawed_ a “concreteness” rather 

than an “abstre turn of mind, because ~ 
he had “perseverated™ on a single idea to 
explain all the groupings. What was the 
single idea? ~ “He perse don the ideas 
thatall the groupings had something tol 
‘dewith grownups and ch res ne 

Ruby might have been~expected to 
“perseverate”’ on that point, because there 
were many other signs that indicated he 
was completely obsessed with the way he} 

had been treated as a child, But Doctor 
Schafer, a psychologist, was concerned 

with these “obsessions” only as they served j 

to show a lack of flexibility of thought. 

The defense’s two psychiatrists could) 
hardly have picked up much from these 

indications of Ruby’s view of himself and 
his life, since they examined Ruby before! 
Doctor Schafer made the tests. 4 

The mind put on display in that court-# 
room in Dallas was not Jack Ruby's; it 
was the baffling mind of Melivin Belli, thes 
enormously successful San Francisco pe 

sonal-injury lawyer who, against all logic,~ 

became the chief attorney for the defense. 
The flower of the world press came tod 

Dallas and found Melvin Belli standing 
in a pool of light. In those first couple ofg 

weeks Belli could not enter the court-7 
house without the camera lights coming. 
on. And once those lights are on ered | 
Belli cannot stop talking. He is an engag- | 

ing man, and part of his charm is that he, 
is such a notable example of that good? 
old American species, the publicity hound.) 
Even his co-counsel, Big Joe Tonahill, 
who considers him a legal genius and w 

content to Walk one step behind h eM 
constrained to add, “Of c 
bitten bad by the publicity bug.” 

Bell-was orthe original lawyer in the j 
case. A Dallas criminal lawyer named 
Tom Howard, who had once been ay 
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Defense Attorney Mel Belli caught in three characteristic poses. 

rial of Jack Ruby 

ightclub owner like Ruby himself, was 

red by one of Ruby's partners an hour 

so after the shooting, Howard, who has 

ver lost a client to the electric chair, is a 
mple, direct man. He disdains the use 
notes, since he feels that lawyers win 

ses by outthinking the opposition. When 

onahill handed him a question to ask a 

itness, Tom showed his displeasure by 

ying, “All right, ['ll read this just the 
y Joe Tonahill wrote it.” 

The defense Tom Howard planned for 
uby was just as simple and direct. His 

plan was to push the case through as 
quickly as possible, stirring up as little 

. fuss as possible. At no time did he intend 

to plead temporary insanity. His case was 
| that Jack always has been insane. He was 
' going to put about 50 witnesses on the 
stand to testify cheerfully that, sure, 

everyone knew Jack was a nut. He was 
en going to put one or two psychiatrists 

the stand, preferably from Dallas, but 

rtainly not from outside Texas. 

At the end he was going to place Ruby 

imself on the stand so that he could cry 
a little and say, “I shot Oswald because [ 

was so worked up about him killing the 

esident and Officer Tippit. | know [ 
ouldn’t have done it, and I couldn’t be 
rrier. Do whatever you want with me, 
me metes theterme Pete fe atanen dente ened 

jC Uitey Cet GOR ID, ptease WUE csc 

to the chair.” 
Tom would then deliver his famous 

pdeath-house speech,” in which he walks 

the jury through death row, details every 
gove from the time the condemned man 

Meaves his cell until the switch is thrown— 

and finally spends 15 more minutes let- 
bting them smell the flesh burning. “But 

ill go home tonight and lay my head 

Qn the pillow with a clear conscience,” 
fom tells them, “because I know that the 

of Joe Smith is not on my hands. 
The blood of Joe Smith,” he intones 

$e) ulchrally, “is, ladies and gentlemen, 
OD your hands.” 

stom Howard figured that with any 
Mand of luck, Jack would be sent to an 
asylum, and after a decent interval of time, 

two or three years, would get out. At 

very worst, he figured a 10-year jail 
entence—which would have meant that 
ick would be out in less than five years. 

But t Jack Ruby, sitting in his cell, was 
etty much running his own show and 

cept Se er hate wanted “‘a_head- 
ner’ to help Tom Howard with the case, 

Wack v3 va Grant, was 
dy to hire Jake Ehrlich of San Fran- 
co, the model for the TV character 

3a Benedict, But the Ruby family, con- 

cerned about anti-Semitism, decided 
gainst a Jewish lawyer. They then tried 

ito hire Charles Bellows, the most colorful 

‘criminal lawyer in Chicago. But Bellows 
made it clear that he expected a five- 

figure retaining fee, and that killed that. 
While this was all going on, Earl Ruby, 

Jack's brother, was arranging to raise 
fr: money by publishing a book about 

|e case. The writer he wanted was Wil- 

liam Read Woodfield, a Hollywood pho- 

tographer who had written a book about 
Cary! Chessman. Woodfield told Earl that 

he didn’t think the book could sell unless 
ey hired a colorful lawyer to give the 

ha some box office. When Earl asked 
whom he would recommend, Wood- 

fpid suggested Belli, a friend. 
Belli leaped at the opportunity to make 

in international reputation and took the 

without fee. While the Rubys were 

topay expenses, Belli presumably would 
get his return froma Book he would 
write about the trial. He brought in two 

« —_——— ed 

other_lawyers—Tonahill, a__personal- 
injury special from m Jasper, Tex., and 

Sam_ Bro¢ rom is own _firm. 
Howard 1 einen beltte “pefore the trial. 

Belli’s impact was ct was enormous. He al- 

ways gives people the sense that he is 
thrusting himself upon their senses—the 
door of his hotel suite in Dallas always 

seemed to be open, and the sound of his 
voice, over the phone, on TV or in simple 

conversation, hit a visitor halfway down 

the hall. The very way he dresses is a cari- 

cature, There were, for example, the well- 

advertised cowboy boots with the two-inch 

heels and the special sidestraps, custom- 

made by Peal’s of London and polished, 

reputedly, with a special brand of saddle 

soap. In Texas, where cowboy boots are 

not ornamental, they were looked upon 

as a joke. Assistant D.A. Bill Alexander 
called them “fruit boots.” 

Then there was the fancy coat with the 

Persian-lamb collar, and Belli’s rather 

unusual red-velvet briefcase, Even the 

beautiful full mane of nicely peppered 

gray hair, thickly coiffeured at the sides 

and joined together neatly in the rear 

in perfect movie-star style, seemed to 

be part of a costume. 
His soft, even features do give him the 

look of a matinee idol while he’s in action. 

Close up, though, he has the puffy, 

dumpling look of a man who has in- 

dulged too freely. Or maybe it was just 

that he came to the trial overweight, 

He is a marvelously eloquent and witty 

man. Once, walking back to his hotel 

after a particularly galling day, he started 

to cross the street against the Don’r 

WALK sign but came trotting back when 

a car came bearing down on him. “I'm 

going to wait until I can get hit by a 

Dallas police car,” he said. “Oh, how I’ ‘d 

love that. I'd be manipulating three verte- 



brae out of joint, screaming ‘interna! in- 
jurics’ and ‘five million dollars,’ and leaf- 
ing to the indicated page of the medical 
journal before I hit the pavement.” 

Belli is actually a rather shy man in pri- 
vate, and almost everybody covering the 
trial liked him, Even while Belli was ac- 
cusing Dallas of unspeakable crimes 
against justice, a. woman employee inthe 
courthouse could say, “If he'd just take 
off that $750 suit and those silly boots, 
use that beautiful, mellow voice to ad- 
vantage, and just smile at everybody, he 
could do his client an awful lot of good.” 

At first brush Belli seemed to be the 
perfect defense lawyer for a man accused 
of a crime against The Establishment. 
Despite the record verdicts he has won in 
his principal field, personal-injury cases, 
there is not much doubt that he is one 
successful man who identifies with the 
losers. His special technique is to take 

Assistant D.A. Jin Bowie. 

people who have been terribly maimed 
and make the insurance companies pay 

them for the loss of, if not their lives, 
least their livelihoods. 

With it all Belli takes pains to sho 
that he is a winner himself. “1 pick th 
up as losers, that’s true enough,” he sa! 
“but by the time I put them down ag; 
they're winners.” And he is off and 

ning about a recent case where the ins| 
ance company had offered his client! 
lousy $5,000 and “it went for $100, 

Speaking of his battle against The Bi 
tablishment, Belli says, “What [ am 

against is Big Brother, the people who 
know what's better for you than you do.” 
When Belli walked into Dallas and found 
that it was ruled by something called “the 

oligarchy"—a  semiofficial, semipubli- 
cized, self-perpetuating group of busi- 
nessmen—he could no more have kept 

Defense Attorney Joe Tonahill. 

himself from attacking it than he co} 
have grown a beard, put on dark gla: 

and hidden himself in a closet. ig 
During the change-of-venue hearing 

he did a particularly savage job on Sa 
Bloom, who handles public relations fg 
the Citizens Council, from whose n 
bers the oligarchy is drawn. After esta 
lishing that Bloom had volunteered 

President was shot, did you hand ina 

port of the warm welcome Dallas hg 

wouldn't wash away the sins of the cit 
Ruby were put to death. 

“I don’t believe Dallas has any sigs 

that need to be washed away,” said Bloagg. 
“Well, if that’s your belief"—dramal 

pause followed by a disgusted wavel§f 
the hand—“I don’t have any furth 
questions for you.” 

Belli launched a frontal attack on the 
oligarchy during the change-of-venue 
hearing and continued through the selec- 

tion of the jury (in which he had to attack 
the prospective jurors as being under the 
influence of the shadowy oligarchy). He 

even attacked the Dallas power structure, 

against what seemed to be his client’s 
best interests, during the trial. 

One of the oldest axioms of the I 
profession is that when you are defending 
an acknowledged murderer, you try{fo 
put the victim on trial. With one of the 
most obnoxious victims of all time’ To 

work with, Belli decided to put the city of 
Dallas on trial. He dared that jury to find 

his client guilty. = 

ihe 1ocal courthouse reporters—a Pre” 
dominantly young, liberaland extremely 

\ and the defendant is only the me 
S through which he prosecutes society."td 

beginning that 

By the time the change-of-venu 
was Over, thty-were saying humorotty, 
“There's only one man wh Ty one man who can kill Sack. 

His lawyer.” Sas 
After a very Tew days in court it beri 
evident that the original impressi 5 
Belli as the perfect defense pial yt 
simply not true. Belli is not, at heat?) 2 
defense lawyer at all. He is a prosecutdH 

d 

his personal-injury cases where he! BA 
forms so brilliantly, Belli not only prost® 
cutes society, he literally makes soblf?” 
pay. Belli’s technique, whether it is - 
scious or unconscious, is to get the fi 
to pay his client what he would get 16H? 
mally, plus another 100 percent in CGA” 
science money. And when society { 
the victim, it also pays Belli his 3344 ion 
cent to prove to him he’s still ahead. 

In the case of Jack Ruby, Belli apBHfl? 
ently adopted the defense he was 

equipped to make. His case, as it deVel- 

oped in court, was not really that Ruby 

had killed Oswald because he was instirt> 
Not in the usual sense of insanity, affy- 
way. His case was that Ruby was ins&nht 
because of a physical damage to the 

brain, which had been brought about 8} 
a lifetime of brawling. Society, havifg! 
vented its own murderous impulses 
Jack Ruby, was obviously getting What. 
it deserved when it was repaid in kiHe2t 

This was a defense that did sometKfHg! 
else for Belli. In coming to the most HAY 
portant case in his life, Belli undoubtedt¥t 
felt more comfortable about running on a 
familiar track. B yin BEAE 
tried_in that Dallas courtroom was i 
ther a murder _case nor an_insanity 2 

ed's Hes 9201 He tried a personal-injury case. 
T Ble was Sat he based it’bn 

someting. sear pie 
which, as it turned_-oub wa eetrenily 

MW
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difficult to prove in a court of law. And! 

in My view, he made it worse by avin it 

away in advance. 
The turning point in the trial came Bet 

fore it began—on January 20, the fitst 
day of a two-day bond hearing. Bohd 

hearings serve a special purpose for TAS 
defense lawyers, even when it is obvibd¥ 
they cannot get their clients out_on HAP 
In Texas, unlike most states, the law ddé¥ 
not require the state to turn over poll 
records.to the defense or to give the eZ 
fense much of anything that might hep it 
prepare its case before the trial staf! 
Being entitled to so little information dee 

“fense attorneys have come to use the bdnd 
hearings as a means of pretrial discov Yi 

MeL Belli did the opposite. He gfe 
prosecution advance information on his 
plans, and got little in return, He did dnt S, 
OO 

7 he'says, because he felt the “psycholdgi' 
'0 cal climate” of Dallas was so frigid tHa# 

helhad to demonstrate as quickly as post 

fd sible that Ruby was not a cold-bloodé@Y 
Ol kilter but a man with asick mind. 941 

~ Belli put Doctor Schafer of Yale and 4" 

'. psychiatrist, Dr. Walter Bromberg of K4-* 
,, tonah, N.Y., on the stand and asked then 
V detailed questions which clearly estab? 

lished that the defense would be based’di?! 
a claim of psychomotor epilepsy causeae 

.. byorganic brain damage—and specifically 
4“ ruled out both schizophrenia and paiytt 
' nola, the conventional defenses in an fe 

* sanity plea. Judge Brown had agreed 46* 
order a full battery of neurological tests SHE 
Ruby, but Belli did not wait to see how uy 
cafne out. He was betting everything Gn% 
an'examination of Ruby's brain wave 

To District Attorney Henry Wade ati?! 
lt higaides, the sight of a defense lawyer last 
| in his cards one by one on the table wag? 
') Gumbfounding. At one point Assistatie? 
© DJA. Bill Alexander actually objectéd 

‘that Belli’s questions to Doctor Scha¥er¢ 
¢ inappropriate to a bond heariif 
n, as it became clear what was hdpo’ 

ing, Wade laid a restraining hand ‘b#?" 
Aléxander’s elbow. (ted 

When Belli had first hit town ina burst! 
ol ci fe D.A.'s office had conié 
cldse to panicking. Morale had sunk 'sdil 
low th e called his top mien into HY 

» office to remind Thema Tad Wise) tha! 
they had been taking on the best lawyé?s3- 
in'Texas Tora dazen years and had alwayw 
beeit able to more than hold their ow#t!? 
Bit On the second day of the bond hedt->' 

‘ing Alexander whacked Wade across thé” 
e and said, “We're _gonna_cut tM | 

y's buts All we got to do from heree 
is to be carci: Tn lawyer language that 
méans “make no reversible errors.") (80 
{Under the adversary system on whiét! 

we operate, each lawyer has the right B#! 
faél, the duty—of taking whatever unfait 
adtantage he can. That's what the advdl: 

ra eee SE Seale : 

Sdry vysiciit cans. £Ne urd party in te 

system, the judge, is there to hold bode 

sides within acceptable bounds, and if te! 

cafinot do it through the force of his pe#o 

sonality, he can fine them or put theme 

jai2 Under Judge Brown the system fal 

apart. To thi erver, Joe Brown ivial 

mist amusing and likable character, who 

_scémed _constitutionally— Thcapable— tte 

mintaining order—let_alone_respect@4e 
inside a Courtroom. 

We can recall Mel Belli dancing down 

the street in front of his hotel one eve- 

ning, snapping his fingers happily a: 

saying, “Can you think of any other co i 

in the country where both Joe Tona! iN 

and | wouldn’t have been in jail the first" 

day?” And then snapping his fingers to- 

ward the sidewalk, he said, “Git along 

there... . I’ve never had a judge tell me to 

‘gitalong' before. Git along Wl dogic. vein 

In the early days Belli was still using the 

common Latin phrases taught in law 

school and used in most of the courts in 

the land. In Texas, where the lawyer and 

the witnesses are frequently on a first- 

name basis, they see no great reason why 

the English phrases shouldn't be used. It, 

was comma, owledge that Brown. fads 

called Belli into his chambers to tell his 

“Mel will you do me a favor and lay g® 

that Pig Latin?” ; : F 

“Tenjoy my daily visits with 4s 

Brown,” Belli said. “He keeps a little 

of baking soda in the bathroom of § 

chambers. | look at it as soon as I walk in. 

When that can is almost empty I'll kn 

he’s just about ready to let the case go to 

“another city.” But only a second later 

“Mel Belli was saying, “I love that man. 

Yd never do anything to hurt him.” 

idge Brown has many attractive qual- 

i@é#. There was a moment during the 

trial when all the lawyers were gathered 
he jury-box railing to study Jack 

aes brain tracings. Ruby himself was 
left alone at the table among the scattered 

papers, the piles of books and the multi- 
red briefcases. In that moment Jack 

Ruby's wandering eyes met the wander- 
ing eyes of Brown. Ruby offered a strained, 

teppetive smile, uncertain whether it was 
proper to communicate even that indi- 

rectly. Brown's lips moved into a compas- 
' sianate little smile, and he gave Ruby a 

little nod, It was simply the acknowledg- 
ment that they were both human beings, 

and that if one had somehow ended up in 
the dock and the other on the bench, it 

was just the way the ball had happened to 

bounce. It was perhaps the only time dur- 
ing the entire trial that Jack Ruby was 
treated as a human being, as opposed to 

being a defendant or a curiosity. 
Joe Brown looks like a judge—nicely 

grayed and wondrously wrinkled. But no 
wd bt ae oe 

one has ever compares timit to Ulver Wen- 

dell Holmes in anything save appearance. 
Since he was. elected to the Criminal 

District Bench in 1956, 34 of his cases 
have been reviewed by the Criminal Ap- 

Is Court in Austin. Seven of them were 
anded, four for what may be described 

elementary errors. (On two separate 

ases he incorrectly allowed the police 

record of the defendant to be admitted 
into testimony.) 

Until a new court was added this year, 

there were only two other criminal district 
courts in Dallas County. The two other 
judges had 60 reviews with four reversals. 

Judge Brown got the Ruby case by an 
accident of timing. Each of the judges 

presides over the county grand jury for 

one quarter. Brown had the last quarter 

in 1963, and he resisted all pressure to 
assign the case to any docket but his own. 

-One member of the-D.A.'s office went 
so far as to visit Brown on his own to 
plead with him to give it up. 

oe, but this is too big for 
you,” he said. “You rejust going to make 

a damn foolor yoursell- Daas all a favor 
and assign it to someone else.” But Brown, 

sorely nurt refuse 
None of the defense lawyers made any 

—e——— 

secret of their belief that it would be im- 
possible for Brown to get through the 
trial without making a reversible error, 
and much of the trial became a game of 
unashamedly trying to trap him, The dis- 

trict attorney's office, in turn, had three 
D.A.’s tucked away in an upstairs office 
to check every ruling the judge made, so 

that they would be in a position to rescue 
him before it was too fate, 

Brown was cunning enough to_know 
that PTR tererer Was tying to Maneuver 
him into making an error, and the state 
was doing tts darndest_to_prévent_him 
from’ making One, the smartest thing to 
do would be to trist-thestate To! oa 
him astray. When the state said 
tion,” Brown, almost always, it. 
would say—"Sustained,”* It got to_be so, 
nearly automatic that at one point Belli 

argued against a “ruling™ for 30 seconds 
before Jikige Brown broke in ta TaI-hinr 
“Go ahead with your questions, Mr. Belli. 
The court hasn't sustained the objection.” 

In the end Judge Brown hurt both 
sides in odd and unpredictable ways. He 
hurt Belli by holding him in such loose 
rein, because Belli—whether he appreci- 

ated it or not—was a far superior lawyer 
when he tended to business. Brown hurt 
the prosecution by being so quick to up- 
hold their objections that they finally had 

to pull back and refrain from conducting 

as tough and as harassing a battle as they 
usually do. There are times, after all, 
when the game calls for one side to make 

an objection with every expectation that 



it is going to be Overruled. Inere were 
times in this trial, in fact, when the state 

had to fight like a tiger to get its own 
objections overruled. 
When it came, finally, to the selection 

of a jury, both sides joined battle over the 
162 veniremen. The prosecution was 

faced with the unprecedented difficulty of 
having to impanel a jury made up for the 

most_part_of people who had seen the 
murder on television. Even though the 

court rejected Belli’s argument that any- 

one who had seen it was a witness, Belli 
still had a corollary issue that a witness 

who had seen it was unable to give Ruby 
a fair trial. The whole thing became so 
ludicrous that for one full afternoon 
Judge Brown's rulings had pretty much 

established the formula that if the-juror 

OK, but if, having seen it, he Anew Rasbyrl 

had shot him, he was disqualified: ~i2 sz 
The formula that Was finally setledd 

upon was based entirely upon semantiteiz 

If the juror stated that he had “an opittid 
ion” of the defendant's guilt or innocene, 
he was still in the game. Hf the deféoseq 

could get him to agree that he hainas 
“fixed opinion,” however, he could/inath 

then extricate himself by claiming thasHel 
could lay that opinion aside, isl 6 

Through that narrow hole, whichioed 
panded and contracted according to éadby 
side’s alertness and each side's will orn 

battle, the prosecution had to dnagez 

squeeze and carry their jurors. isb10 

Fora while the game was played almost 

by rote. Since the prosecution had firsts - 

crack at every juror, they would immedirs 

ately establish that he had no fixed opinian. 
By the time the defense came to bat; ahet 

prosecution knew pretty well what hindi 

of juror they had. If they wanted to figkyb 

for him, they would block every attemmpd 
by Belli to jockey him into a corneris 

“This jur-or,” Assistant D.A, Jim Boyer 

would say, alerting both the court antr 
the juror himself, “has already testifiesdy 

that he does not have any fixed opiniensA 

The question is repetitious.” iw 
If, on the other hand, the prosecutéotm 

did not want to fight for a juror, they> 
would simply sit back and let him flows! 
der, Tonahill’s style was to get hinpift 
agree that the sight of the shooting wagwds 
horrible thing for any man of norstali 

sensitivity. “That scene was so horriblesd 

he would say, “that you can close youl 
eyes and see it right now, can’t you ®’ ani 

And then, “It was so horrible thawdw 
will stay with you to your dying dayz"yug 

From there he was only a step or prei 
away from establishing the point thatom 

memory so shattering could only leang a 
man with his opinion fixed ow 

For the most part the defense simplyt 
te Ss bm aeeastaes 

bludgeoned from one area ww animes 

asking whatever questions suited themynee 
matter how irrelevant and impropersthe 
questions might be. They were forever 

volunteering to explore the jurors’ name 

conscious with such scientific aids asia 
Rorschach test. (Belli had the whole set, 
of ink blots hopefully at his fingertipsy; 

Tonahill had a remarkable talenta@on 
asking the same question six ways and fre 

ignoring the judge's instructions to getiom 
- ee 

| t& something else. In one stretch 46 out 
+ of 50 questions were inadmissible. 

“You were hurt the way Jack Ruby was 

: hurt,” Tonahill would say. “The way a? 
lot of people were hurt?” 

“To which we object, Your Honor,” 
Jim Bowie would say. i 

‘Did you even happen to wonder why 

is man Oswald who killed President 
Kennedy lived as long as he did?” 2 

(To which we object, Your Honor,” 
““Would_ you be a member of the first 

jury to sentence to death an ex-G.L who 
: kille Communist who killed the Pres- 
a ? Especially here in Texas?” \ 

’ “To which we object, Your Honor.” \) 

Eventually Bowie didn't even bother to 
sit down between objections. 

After a couple of weeks of this it did 

seem as if the lawyers for the defense were 
irresponsible and contemptuous of good 

iggal procedure. Itinevitably came to seepy 

that the district attorney's office was thg 
anly hope for order and sanity, 1a 
.wiBut, of course, it was all just a game 

among lawyers, and it was only the tidepf 

battle that had cast them in their #esperr 
Uve:soirn | With iO afitheijunous,selgeted, 
andibiedsfqnse picket clean of:jay Pars 

tary aballenesasswo Nese baie to theatand: dWvadaiharl alreadynmadasis 
quite-clear, by. ihisiabmunt and discounts; 
ews-Guestioning, that he Was making,Ag 
seer To quality Mairocs. fy Negroes. Belli,_in. fag, 
haq “protested indignantly after Wade 

» had-pointedly failed to address a Mid 
venireitian as “Miste as qys 
-adhe earlier Negro veniremen hag Gis 
qualified themselves quickly, but jgebe, 
came apparent that the first of thed wg 
wenien was prepared to go the full rauty, 
And suddenly there was Jim Bowiesnthat 
champion of common sense—asking, : 

__ “From what you heard, did you formyapy 
opinion on whether Jack Ruby was,the 

“teach who shot Oswald downat City Hadj?) 
-Iso, she hadn't. =“ qiups 
yd@ “The picture showed the shooting, 
dideit not?” tbe 
-uWell, she answered, it showed a pga 
with a gun. view 
aQ. “From what you saw of the picture 

addi the gun, you formed the opinigg: 
: #hatJack Ruby was the one who shoyjLge; 

dlarvey Oswald.” unsy 
is&and now it was Tonahill who wag-gh- 
eating to the same questions he had 
duniself been asking for two weeks. fhe 
state used a peremptory challenge toe 
sbesitheowoowind sti ziri mi seuo Ingriog 
# ob besecond Negrsisyoman was midedle- 
dgthoarid! heavysst She vasweaning 

Ww 
vv2 ano Issorl zid to inoy! mt teo1a ort 

bre vlinasd ersanit 2 aqpne .anin Gitieckattoionntasressindd adrabios a 
dark-bios,cha to tapned. bys huges Wiike 
fose garnished with 4 hideous green; legf. 
no Frank Watts, the baldheaded Ng. 4 
aman of the D.A.'s team, took the witngss. 
vloQ. “Do you believe in the death pen- 

-bhty?”" iftib 
tiga. “Yes.” ani 

Q. (incredulously) “The Bible teaghes 
-y6u that?” Tr 
sz1iObjection! s10t 
baQ. “Murder with malice is whergys 
emurderer does exactly what he intended 
atmido, Wrongfully, intentionally, majj- 
-Bigusly. Without justification. You might 

say. he has a wicked heart. Would yqu 
sodnsider giving a man as little as syyo+ 
~yoars in the penitentiary for that?” jo54 
ti qBelli objected on the same grounds: 

aAhat the state had always used when, he 
-abked the same question—in short, that 
bitowas necessary to explain that the Jgw 
allowed such a sentence only “if the,gir- 
sduaistances warranted it.” ‘ 

2id Ror all their talk, due process is to law- 
yess what a rag doll is to a child; they 

embrace itor they kick it around as suits 
their mood and their purpose. 
1 As the defense lawyers kept interrupt- 
ing, Watts barked at the woman, “They'll 
have a chance to talk to you later, Now 
you listen to me.” 

The whole social structure of the South 
_*-was in that voice. Watts did what Belli 

had never been able to do: He stripped 
away the court's insulation and put us 
right into downtown Dallas. 

But the Negro woman was not going 
to let this man make her say anything she 
didn’t want to say. The prosecution used 
one of its peremptories on her as well. 

Finally, after two weeks of ploy and 
counterploy, Jim Bowie walked into the 
D.A.’s offices three flights up from the 
courtroom and called out, “Well, where's 
Alexander? He's been hollering for a jury 
and I've got him one, Alex, get the script 
ready.” It was—as Belli had predicted— 
a white, Protestant jury. It was made up 
of eight men and four women. 
After the jury was sworn in, Jack Ruby 

was directed to stand, He looked as-



tonishingly changed; Ruby had not only 

shriveled up but had almost disappeared. 

The change had begun when the first 

venireman took the stand, and Henry 
Wade had begun explaining the jurors’ 
duty to assess punishment. “Since the 
maximum in this case js the electric chair, 
we will ask you and the other jurors to 
render that verdict,” said Wade-And 
Ruby's head snapped as i he had been 
hit between the eyes. What he had known Whar hehad know 

seemed to stiffen more 
through the next few weeks, as though he 
were building a protective sheath, ~~ 
Now Henry Wade strolled across to 

where Ruby was standing and stationed 
himself directly in front of the defendant. 

With one hand in his pocket he read off 
the indictment in a voice that had very 

little of the snap of accusation. Their eyes 
never met; each seemed to be looking 
over the other's left shoulder. 

“Mr. Ruby,” said Judge Brown, “how 
do you plead?” 

Softly and hesitantly, not quite sure 
apparently whether he or his lawyer was 
supposed to speak, Jack Ruby said, “Not 
guilty, Your Honor.” 

Somewhat hesitantly, too, Belli broke 

in to say that Jack was pleading not 
guilty by reason of being insane at the 
time of the act and “presently insane, as 
he stands here right now.” As if to dem- 

onstrate that lack of mental capacity, he 
_ turned to Jack and said, “Repeat it after 
me, Jack, not guilty by reason 

Judge Brown broke in quickly to tell 
him, as Belli undoubtedly knew, that he 
could only enter a simple plea of not 
guilty, If Ruby were insane, as he stood 
there, the trial would have had to be 
stopped. Belli could have asked for a 
sanity hearing before they began to select 
the jury; it was now too late. 
Ruby sat down withoutsaying anything 

more, The four words were the only ones 
he spoke through the entire trial. 

While Belli entered his plea, Henry 
Wade slouched in his seat. You could 
scour the whole country without finding 
a man better cast for the role of district 
attorney than Henry Menasco Wads Ir. 
He is an easygoing man, but he is also. 
persistent and thorough—and if he be-. 
lieves-ome Thing More than aiything else 
inthe World, itis that men should not 
tke the law into ther own tinds. —— 

ade’s Tather, Henry Menasco Wade 
Sr., had been a judge in Rockwall, Tex., . 

/ 

about 21 miles from Dallas. Five of his 
seven brothers are lawyers, Before Henry 
was born, there had been a lynching in_ 
Rockwall that had ripped the little town 
in half. Judge Wade had been the leader 
of the faction that had opposed and con- 
demned the lynchers. From his first con- 
scious moment young Henry Wade knew 
who had taken part in that lynching, and 
when he went to town and saw one of 
them walking along the street, he hated 
him with the fierce hatred of boyhood. 

In many ways Wade is both a reflec- 
tion of and a reaction to his father, “My 
father wasn’t a man who was close to his 
children,” Wade says. “He was a strict 
disciplinarian of a school you don’t see 
much of now.” Wade, for his part, likes 
to take his five kids, one or two at a time, 
on long early-morning rides out to a lake 
or to his own farm, and then drop them 
off at school on the way back. On the 
first day of the change-of-venue hearing, 
the start of the most important case in 
his life, he rushed home so that he could 
attend a father-son night at the junior 

Police Sergeant Patrick T. Dean. 

high school with his 11-year-old son, 
Kim. He brought his two boys, Kim and 
Hank, to the night session, and when they 
got home, they all went out to the back- 
yard, in a light rain, to shoot baskets. 

So things were not exactly what they 
seemed. The defense attorney was a 
Prosecutor at heart, and the district at- 
torney was a pushover for kids. 
Wade is also a rough and tough com- 

petitor. “If you go hunting.” says a Dallas 
attorney, “Henry gets the biggest deer, 
and if you go fishing, he gets the most fish. 
If you play bridge or dominoes with him, 
he'll beat you, He wants to win... .” 

{n_13 years in office Wade has became 

widely accepted_as tne pest aistrict at 
torniéy Dallas has ever had. His office got 
convictions on 93.5 percent of its cases in 
1963, The best percentage in the country. 

sy “ite Operation which pays the poli- 
tidians“and the police for-grazing privi- 
leges--Dallas, once a wide-open town, is 
“clusef so tightly because the oligarchy 
decided after the war that the city’s future 
lay in attracting white-collar businesses. 

In Wade the oligarchy found a man 
who couldn't be touched, He is so honest 
that-hiswife Yvonne, would T0rdareto 
“drive down to the corner alter drinking x 
gtiss ol -"With Henry, right’s right~ 
and wrong’s wrong,” she says; 

All this, Belli later found, was a factor 
in the trial of Jack Ruby. With all his 
other difficulties, Belli was forced to go 
up against a jury that had admira- 

—X 
ti its law-enforcement_agencies—a 
situation which boggles the mind. . 

\J-The testimony of a couple of police \ 
officers_became very important in estab 
lishing premeditation. Dallas jurors are 
predisposed _to believe inet poco 
cers, because they are confident that their 
police force is incorruptible, ~~ [2 
“After eight jurors n selected, I 

was walking down the street with Belli, 
when he suddenly clenched his fist and 
exclaimed, “Any other city in this coun- 
try, dammit, and I swear I'd walk this 
guy out! I swear it!" It seemed an admis- 
sion that he knew even then that he was 
not going to walk Jack Ruby out of that 

Dallas courthouse. 
Belli had hurt himself at the bond hear- 

ing and may have thrown away the initial 

impact of his personality in rantings 

against the oligarchy at preliminary hear- 
ings. Yet he started the trial as if he were 
going to walk on water. The first day was 
the best day Belli had. 

The prosecution's original plan had 
been to place about five witnesses on the 
stand to establish the basic legal case that 
Oswald was dead and Ruby had killed 
him. At the last minute, however, Wade 

decided to hang a sort of conspiratorial 
smoke screen over the trial by demon- 

strating that Ruby had shown “an unnat- 

ural interest” in Oswald's movements. 
There was a certain indistinct pattern 

that could be strung together. On the 
evening of President Kennedy's assas- 
sination, at the very time that Oswald 
was in the homicide office, Ruby had 
phoned a homicide lieutenant to ask if he 

could bring up some sandwiches for the 
boys, Later that night he had worked his 
way into the police station with the press, 
and he was there in the office when 
Oswald was paraded through. And_he- 



had, according to_the testimony of _a 
policeman. been standing at the garage 
ram ic — 

time that Qswald was originallysupposed 
to have_been moved. ok 

building writing out ads for his clubs at 
the moment Kennedy was shot, and it is 
indisputably true—if not particularly rel- 

evant—that the News is only two blocks 
from the Texas School Book Depository, 

where Oswald allegedly fired his rifle. 

The strategy of tracking Ruby through 

those two days was questionable at best. 
Tom Howard’s plan had been to march 

Jack’s acquaintances onto the stand in 

job lots so they could tell how unstable 

he was, By putting on the people whose 

paths Ruby had crossed, Wade, to a de- 

gree, was doing the same thing. 

The state opened with the two ad sales- 
fests aby es (ated eee te eet 
soon as Belli got them, he was able to 

establish Jack's shock sind_grie!at_the 
news of the shooting, as well as Jack's 
general reputation for instabili 

For some reason Alexander then put 
on yet a third em; ing 
department eorgia Mayer, a pretty 

youn, io. 

Ail she did for the state was to corrobo- 
rate the hardly disputed point that_Jack 
was stillin the offi er_the assassination. 

And then she fell to Belli. No, she said, 
Jack wasn’t crying, he was just sitting 
there with “his eyes fixed toward the back 

of the office.” 
Belli leaned back on the rear legs of his 

chair. “You mean fixed like a fixed 
stare?” Belli asked, pouncing. He turned 

to the courtroom, acting out the part of 
a man with an indisputably fixed stare. 

“Like this?” 

“Yes, and dazed,” she said thought- 

fully. ‘Just like I'm staring now at the 

back of the room—just fixed.” 

For the next five minutes he put to Miss 
Mayer every question he could think of 

that would allow him to drive home those 
two words, “fixed stare.” 

With each succeeding witness, Belliset_ 

to Work to draw the portrait of an-eccen- 
tric_but_essentially_harmless character. 
He was “a Damon Runyon-character,~ 

“the village clown.”’ “a character_toler- 
ated by the _community.~~And even— 
with what seemed to be unnecessary 
cruelty to his client—“some kind of goof, 
around the community. 
When Belli is operating well, he rocks 

back and forth. When he’s standing, he 

rocks on his heels; when he’s sitting, he 
rocks onto the rear legs of his chair. On 
this first morning he looked as if he were 
on a rocking chair. 

As Henry Wade walked into his office 
at the noon recess, he growled, “This 

afternoon let's put on some witnesses for 

the prosecution.” 
As the last witness in their tracking op- 

eration, the state called Doyle Lane,the 

Western Union man who had waited on 
Ruby gid_more important-placed the 

just before the Oswald murder. 
Since the time stamp showed that Ruby 

had only three to four minutes to walk 
the 396 feet to the police station, Lane 

was the defense’s own star witness in 
knocking down the charge of premedita- 
tion, By putting him on the stand as its 

own witness, the state was softening the 
impact of his testimony just a littlke—al- 

though Belli was careful to let the jury 
know that the defense had also sub- 
poenaed him. 

When Lane’s name was called, Ruby, 
who was apparently well aware of Lane's 

importance to him, watched in appar- 
ent surprise as Lane came to the stand. 

Throughout Lane’s testimony Jack 
seemed to have trouble breathing, his 

characteristic look when he was upset— 

the slightly pursed lips somehow giving 

the impression that he was letting the air 
come out slowly in a low whistle. 

Lane turned out to be a plump man 
with a slight lisp quite similar to Jack's, 
and a somewhat prissy way of speaking. 

When at the very end he answered a ques- 

tion by saying, “My goodness, I went 

over that at the other hearing,” it seemed 

just about right. 
The tune Belli played on cross-exam- 

ination could have been titled “11:17.” 

Assistant D.A. Bill Alevander. 

le hit the time element from all possible 
directions, and he passed the money order 

4 around the jury box to let them gaze upon 
"those magic figures. When he finally let 

Lane go, Belli said, “Mr. Wade, would 

you mind if we circled the time?” 
Said Wade drily, “1 believe you've 

nce the prosecution had managed to 

icate itself from the fairly disastrous 

ofturning Rubyinto Oswald’sstalker, 
istant D.A. Bill Alexander got down 

jaying the foundation for his case. 
/hile Wade had the responsibility and 
final word on strategy, it was Alexan- 
who really tried the case. He is Henry 

de's hatchet man, the man who draws 
fire and gets the job done, the man 

to use one of his own favorite ex- 
sions, “can fade the heat.” 
ill Alexander is tall and rawboned in 
uare-shouldered, flat-backed way that 
haracteristic of a farmworker. His 
are narrow—he is tight-eyed—and 

ey somehow seem to be made even 
¢ menacing by a quick flash of a smile 
spreads up across his face and then is 
¢ almost as soon as it has begun. 
xander’s courtroom delivery struck 

ears at first as an elocution-class 
tone, in the sense that he gives each 

le and letter equal time and weight. 
a style that seemed crude and ama- 
ish when pitted against Belli’s beauti- 

ly shaded and modulated voice. Once 
became accustomed to Alexander's



very, however, the very lack of moau- 

pn gave it a power that day by day 
ied to become the remorseless, un- 

promising voice of justice—or, more 

Muratcly still, of vengeance. 
lexander customarily wears a pistol 
urt, a habit dating back to the days 

n he used to ride with the Dallas 
ce Vice squads. He didn’t wear it dur- 

the Ruby trial, because he had been 
ed_off_that Belli intended to leap up 

d shout, “Your Honor, | fear for the 
ty of my client. Mr. Alexander car- 

a gun. I demand he be searched and, 

ecessary, disarmed!" 

is information was probably correct. 
© the verdict was in, Belli said, “The 

intrigues and backstabbings that went on 
in this case were just unbelievable. They 
bugged our first meeting here by getting 

to one of our investigators; then we got 

somebody in their office, and we were 

getting a steady flow of information until 

they found out. | swear that you could 
never pick up the phone without wonder- 

ing whether it was bugged.” (At one 
point the D.A.’s office got a tip that Ruby 
was going to throw a fit in the courtroom 
and Belli was going to fake a heart attack. 

They took it seriously enough to station 
their own doctor among the spectators so 

he could rush in and examine Belli.) 

Alexander's crudeness makes it easy to 
underestimate his ability. As the trial of 

Jack Ruby progressed, it became increas- 

ingly evident that while Bill Alexander 

did not have Belli’s maneuverability in 
interrogation and couldn't approach Belli 
in sheer eloquence, he was—in that court- 
room, on that case—the best and the most 
solid lawyer we were watching. 

It was Alexander who called to the- 
stand J. R. Leavelle, 44, the detectives 
who will be identifiable forever as the 
man in the light suit and the tall Stetson 
who looked on aghast as Ruby pulled the 

trigger. At 9:30 a.m. on November 24, 
two days after the assassination of Ken- 
nedy, Leavelle, Detective C. N. Dohrity 
and Detective L. C. Graves were in- 
structed to bring Oswald down from his 

jail cell on the fifth floor, Leavelle hand- 
cuffed Oswald's hands together and de- 

livered him to an office, where two Secret 

Service men were waiting to question him. 
Oswald was still as uncooperative as 

ever, (“He never gave you a direct an- 
swer,” one detective says. “If you asked 

him what time it was, he'd say, “What 

time do you think it is?” And if you said, 

“We want to know what time you think it 

is,” he'd say, ‘Look up at the clock on the 

wall and you'll see!""") 
Ataround 11:10 4.M. they finished the 

interrogation and prepared to move Os- 
wald from the city jail to the county jail. 

The time of the transfer was purest 
chance. The plan was to place Oswald in 
the backseat of an unmarked police car 
between Leavelle and Graves. 

Detective Dohrity was told to back the 
car into the driveway that led from the 

Court reporter records testimony of defense witness Dr. Towler. 

little Lynn, thepreqnant stripper. 

L -% 
jail-office door to the ram ivewa’ 

is pei aps cei oe There was no plan 

-plan was to show him to the cameras just 
long enough to prove that he had not been 

\péaren. The plan Went wrong \ Spe | 
rying reporters and photographers cu 
off Dohrity. 

At approximately 11:15 Oswald w. 

being walked to the elevator on the thir 
floor between Leavelle and Graves. As th 

elevator reached the basement, Leavelle 
turned to Oswald and told him, “Tf any- 

body tries to shoot you, | u hope their aim 
is as good as yours was." i 

Oswal Id ‘gave him his little smirk. “Nos 

body’s going to snout at tue. 
ace jy the three officers, th they 

walked rough the jail office eee a 

hesitated for a few seconds, Wai ig 09 
the alfclear signal. Leavette_could see 
only the heavily lighted driveway andt ind the 

cers lining the the walls. } 

In questioning jing Leavelle, Alexander wi 

almost too casual with the key question : 
“What, if anything, of an unusual nay 

ture happened as you approached a point 
about three feet in front of the corner?*) 

“A man came from the crowd of re- 
porters, photographers and'’—drily— 
“police officers. ... He came up in front of, 

myself, Oswald and Detective Graves.” 
Q. “What first attracted your attentio 

to “ man?” i 
“When he first dashed from the, 

ened, I saw he had a pistol in his Fight 
hand and he was ready to shoot. . - Hey 

took two quick steps and fired the gun. ‘ 
Py “What did you do?” 

. “I tried to catch the man by the" 
shoulder and did succeed in catching him | 
by the left shoulder.” 
Q. “What did Oswald do?” 
A. “He grunted and said, ‘Oh,’ and 

slumped to the floor.” 
As Oswald went down, he dragged 

Leavelle down with him. Graves had im- 
mediately grabbed Ruby’s gun hand and 
was wresting the gun away from him. 
“The right hand was still contracting on 
the gun as if he was attempting to fire 
another shot,” Leavelle recalled. 

Belli had been demanding to see the



gun from the first day of the bond hear- 

ing, but under Texas law he simply was 

not entitled to see it until the state was 

ready to introduce it into evidence. y 

Belli tries most of his cases in Cali- 
fornia, where the laws favor the defense. 

“In California,” Belli says, “the district 

attorney has to turn over everything in ¢ 

his briefcase, including his tapes.” If he } 
doesn't turn over the evidence upon de- 

mand, he Cannot use it inthe tial. 1 

Texas a defense attorney is entitled t 
nothing. He is not even entitled to see th 

police reports. The dangers such a system 
holds for the unwary defense lawyer was 
demonstrated during the second day of 
the trial, which may well have ranked as 
one of the worst days that Mel Belli ever 

suffered in a courtroom. 
The state had to prove premeditation, 

and phey had to prove it in the face of the 
11:17 time stamp on the money order 
and _the jpparent accident of Ruby's ar- 
rival_at the right place at the right time. 
That meant they had to prove it out of 

Ruby's own mouth, even though all of us 
who grew up on B movies—or Congres- 
sional hearings—know a man cannot be 

made to testify against himself. 
But there was one tiny crack in that 

armor, and the D.A.'s office set out to 
drive their case through it. The openin 

shot had been fired on the first day of the 
trial, when Alexander asked Leav 
whether he had heard Ruby say anyth 
as he was being hustled past Oswald’s 
body in the jail office. ee 

Leavelle had barely begun to answer, 
before the defense attorneys were on their 
feet to object that, since Ruby was unders 
technical arrest at that time, nothing he* 

said could be repeated in court. The state, 
maintained it was part of the res gestae of: 
the case, and the objection was overruled. 
(Res gestae, literally “things done,” means { 
anything that comes naturally and spon: 
taneously out of the crime. The classic; 

example is that if you hit me on the nose, | 
and I say, “Ouch,” that’s res gestae.) * 

The time element is therefore a prime 
consideration, although not completely | 
binding. And, except in very rare cases, 

anything said in response to a question 
would obviously not be spontaneous and 
would therefore fall outside the scope of ~ 
res gestae. In Texas the definition is left » 
entirely to judicial interpretation. 

As each succeeding police witness took 
the stand, the prosecution embarked? 
upon the delicate job of stretching res™ 
gestae up the elevator, out into the corri- 
dor, into Ruby's jailcétand, finally, 
into a formal interrogation which could 

not, under the kindest interpretation, ha 
ended less than 15 minutes after Oswa 

was shot. “ 
This was by far the shakiest part of t 

state’s case. Since the Fifth Amendmei t 
is involved here, it gave Belli grounds on 
which” to bring wn appeal_to the U.S, 
Supreme Court. It seemed to be Bellils) 
best hope for a reversible error. 

The state's res gestae case Was taken a 
step further by Don Archer, a balding, 
moon-faced detective, who had helped 

wrestle Ruby to the ground and bring» 
him toa cell. He testified that when Jacki 
was on the ground, he had heard him say, 
“You all’ know me, I'm Jack Ruby's 
whictrhardly-sotinded like @ man in any’ 
kind of an epileptic fit. Over the objecst 
tions of the defense, he was also allowed | 
to testify that while they were riding in the . 
elevator, he had said, “Jack, | think you)! 
killed him,” and Ruby had answered, “I 

intended to shoot fim three times.” 
Belli, Operating sm 5 ‘Archér? 

toconcede that “under the circumstances" 

Jack had looked exceptionally calm,’ 
which is a characteristic of a man in a, 
psychomotor-epileptic fit. He also got 
him to admit that just before Ruby had 
said, **You all know me, I'm Jack Ruby,” 
the cries of “Who is it? Who is it?” ha@ 
been shouted through the basement—the® 
implication being that these cries had * 
jarred Ruby out of his blackout. seve 

Belli asked Archer for a copy of the 

official report he had made to his superi- 
ors. But Archer said he didn't have one. 

Q. “When you went over your testi- 

mony with the district attorney, was that 

statement present?” 

Wabe (quickly): “We don’t have any 

such statement.” 
Belli insisted that he had a right to 

see it. 

JupGe Brown: “You're making a for- 

mal request for the statement? Request 

denied.” 
Beitr (completely astonished): “We 

can’t have it?” 
Once the witness began to testify to the 

same material he had written up in his 

report, Belli was—as he said—entitled to 

see it “for purposes of cross-examination 

and impeachment.” 

While Belli was making this point, Phil 

Burleson, of the defense team, ducked 

into the bailiff’s office to have a subpoena 

fimade out for Archer’s superior, Capt. 

YC. Nichols, instructing him to bring the 

“report into court. 
‘Alexander, tipped off to what was hap- 

~pening, rushed out of the courtroom, met 
rs 

os ill witness Dr. Roy Schafer. 

Nichols just as he was coming up the 
stairs, and plucked the report out of 

ichols’s hand. “Let's make them get it 
efhard way,” he said. 

ck in the courtroom Defense Attor- 
ney Joe Tonahill shouted that Bill Alex- 

; ¢ had defied the court’s subpoena. 
Fie statement is not admissible,” ruled 

Judge Brown. 
Archer was followed to the stand by 

)Tfomas D. Mc illan, a detective for 
{ years. McMillon testified that Re 

had beer ooking head-on at Ruby as 
Ruby fad-comeout of he-crowd, and 

had heard him say, “You rat sonofabitch, 
t you shot the. President —which was six 

» {words fore than anybody else had heard. 

‘tween Archer and Ru 
fittin evér greater detail. “He said he'd 
émeant to shoot him three times, but we 

thad moved too fast_and_prevented him_ 

(He also corroborated the exchange be- 

_ sfronidoing so.” 
aeqOn cross-exdmination McMillon noted 
that Ruby sait-Somicbody had to do y had to do it. 
You-guys couldn’ Tdo it!” 

vo Mellon was an irritating witness for 
Betti anyway, so irritating that he kept 
ip on the stand for more than four 
hours. McMillon had a young, friendly, 

- open face, an air of ingenuousness that 
somehow didn’t fit with a detective, and 
a yemarkable inability to understand a 

ue tion until he was good and ready to 

‘understand it, 
“ha fs Belli became increasingly angry, he 
Started to say, “These other conversa- 
tions that you have memorized—strike 
that—that you have testified to here, ...”" 
Then he paused to look down at his notes 

~‘as if he were picking up a new line of



\ { 
ae a | * 

questioning, sWing his eyes back up at 

MceMillon and—incredibly—he said, com- 

pletely out of context. “All right, did he 

say anything about the dog in the car?” 

(Belli was referring to Jack Ruby’s No- 

vember 24 visit to the Western Union 

office just before the Lee Oswald murder.) 4 

McMitton, frowning as he tried to ree 

member, said, “Later on in the day that 

came out,” 

Q. “All right, tell us what he said . . 45, 

that he had left his dog in the car across. 

the street?” 

After a couple of more questions about 

the dog, Belli asked, “. . . he said that he. 

had left the dog in the car to go over and | 

send the wire, didn’t he?” 
A, “I can’t recall all that conversation,” 

Alexander, having restrained himself™ 

through the earlier questions to get it all a 

firmly on the record, stood up—his face 

flushed in disbelief—and said, “I want t 

warn counsel that with these questions he” 

is opening up the door to the entire:* 

transaction in the jail cell.” ] 
And he had. Once Belli himself had in-« 

troduced the subject of Ruby’s jail-cell 

conversations, he had opened up anys— 

thing McMillon had overheard and, quite, 

probably, anything else Ruby had said in: 
the cell. oe 

The state didn’t need the res gestae,, 

cloak to cover it anymore and, frankly;? 

nobody outside the district attorney's 
office had even been able to see how reds 

gestae could be stretched that far. ¥ A 

The day was not yet over. Belli had’, 

also been demanding the reports madg= 

out by McMillon and had been turn 

down. As soon as Belli finished his cros¢}g 

examination, Henry Wade dropped Mi 

Millon’s statements on the court repo 1 

er’s desk and offered them into evide 

Since Belli had spent the greater pa 

of the afternoon expressing his profound 

belief that the detective’s statements, 

the jury could see them, would be consi 

erably different from his testimony, Wade 

was not only snatching what had been 

shaping up asa strong basis for an uppeal, 

away from Belli, he was also turning M 

Millon into his own corroborating witness. 

Belli was up and shouting for a mis- 

trial. “We are being baited. Now if we 

object to having it introduced, Pll look 

as if I’m not sincere to the jury.” 

With nothing much to lose, Belli de- 

manded that Judge Brown allow him iy 

enter Archer's statement, too, carefull; 

noting for the record that he had already 

subpoenaed it. 

Brown refused. You only have these 

(MeMillon’s] reports because the state has 

tendered it,” he said in what seemed likea, 

clearly improper ruling. 9 

Since he was getting no help at all here: 

from the court, Wade finally had to intro- « 

duce Archer's report himself. Reading the 
reports quickly while Wade was conduct 

ing his redirect examination, Belli came, 

across one damaging quote, Belli ran_u 

ments, and yelled, “You remembered the,,, 
pafts that were damaging to Ruby, but, 
you did remember eventing, di you , diaryou?™” 
How come you didn’t tell me that Ruby 

: lieve this. bot T 20 
had said, * s, butt” 

ee ee have 

vied iebaperipaly ZS 
~ icMillon, looking Bewildered dent d 
Ruby had ever told him that. Angrily,— 
Belli shoved the statement under his nose. 
“That isn't my statement,” McMillon— 

said, brightening. “It’s the other officer’s.”” 

Turning to the front page, he pointed™* 

triumphantly to the heading. “See?” 

Belli hung his head. “There are days 
you have to suffer,” he said, with exag- 

gerated tragedy. Belli knew he had been 

reading from Archer's report, of course. 

But Archer was gone, and he had used the 

only way available to get that key state- 

ment in front of the jury. 

Belli was able to point out that the two 

most damaging quotes McMillon had 

given were in the second report, made 

out a week after the original one. But 

MeMillon explained that the first had 

been a security report involving only what 

had happened in the basement, while the 

second had been for the specific purpose 

of reporting on the arrest itself. 

By the end of the day Belli’s hair was 

ruffied for the first time in memory. He 

himself seemed weary and dispirited. 

The next day it got worse. 

The star witness in establishing pre- 

meditation was Sgt. Patrick T. Dean, 32, 

a dark and black-haired young man, 

whose normal expression is a slow frown. 

When he got to Ruby's cell after the 

murder, Dean testified, he found Ruby 

stripped to his shorts. McMillon, Archer 

and another detective were with him. 

Wane: “And then did you ask a couple 

of questions?” 

Belli entered an objection to any ques- 

tions about any conversation that might 

have taken place with Ruby. 

Brown overruled him. 

The case for the appeal was being laid 

out now, and there were no theatrics. “In 

Texas law," Belli said, “a question may 

not be asked of a prisoner, and his an- 

swer then repeated in court, if he has not 

committed it to paper and signed it.” 

Alexander was up on his feet to argue 

thgt Belli had opened the door during the 

questioning of McMillon. “Not only is it 

res gestae but, having gone into what may 

have been an inadmissible conversation, 

mey nave mage tne balance of it admis- 

sible,” he said. 
Belli took his exception—the magic 

word that must bé uttered before an ob- 
jection can be converted into an appeal. 
The recor ade. 
proceeded to an interview between Ruby 
and a Secret Service man_ “Ruby said 
something to the effect that he thought 
about the kala, 7O nights prior, when 
he saw Oswald on the show-up stand. _ 

“Ruby said he believed in ess/ 
of law, but he was too torn up and emo- 

tonal abe EERE Te s.r 
not Oi T the President but_also 
shot Officer Tippit, and that the outcome 
of the trial-would be that he would be 
given the death evitably-and he 
didn’t see_any sense for a lengthy tal 
that Would subject Mrs. Kennedy to com- 

ing Back to Dallas to testify” 
Belli was up now, shouting for a mis- 

trial. “That man’s Constitutional rights 
have been violated,” he said. 

Wade, pressing on, asked Dean what 
Ruby had said. 

Dean: “He said when he first noticed 
the sarcastic sneer on Oswald's face, that 
was when he first thought he'd kill him if” 
he got the chance And also that he 

guessed he wanted the world to know 

Jews do have guts.” 
Wave: “What was that latter now?” 

Betxr (Outraged and disgusted): “Jews, 

J-E-W-S. | want it said loud and clear so 
that the word will ring out. Jews!" 

Belli asked if Dean had made out 
an “insurance investigation” —and then 

quickly corrected it to “security report.” 

Dean, it developed, had not only made 

out a security report, he had brought a 
carbon copy of it into court on instruc- 

tions from the district attorney, 

Belli bounded out of his seat, as if he 

were happy he didn’t have to fight for 

this one. Holding out his hand, he sai 
“Let's have it.” 

Dean reached into his back pock 

unfolded a clutch of flimsy sheets, sep- 

arated one section, refolded the other 

and, shifting in his seat again, put it back } 

into his pocket. 
“What did you put back in your 

pocket?” Belli demanded. “I want to see 

that! Your Honor, he has another report 

there! I want both of them!" 
“You can’t have it,” Judge Joe B. 

Brown said. 

Up from his slouch came District At- 

torney Henry Wade, drawling out a mag- 

nanimous offer. “If that’s another report, 

we have no objection to them having it. 

As a matter of fact, we'll offer both in



evidence.” 

Before the first sentence was out of 
Wade’s mouth, the blood had drained 

from Belli’s face. 
“They're doing it again,” he wailed,— 

turning to the bench. “They're baitin; 
trap ...a bear trap!” 

Dr. Manfred Guttmacher, prine 

To nobody's great surprise—least. of 
all Belli’s—the report he had screamed ~ 
for was the one that hurt, Dean’s original 
report, dated November 26, ended with 

the notation that he had been instructed 
to take the Secret Service man up to in- 

terview Ruby “at approximately twelve 
noon.” (The shooting had taken place, 
remember, at 11:21.) The second report 

had not been dictated until February 18, 
12 weeks later The first words in this 
report were, “At approximately 11:30 

a.m. Chief Curry approached me... , ."} 
The last words were that the interview 

had taken place “five to ten minutes after 
the shooting of Oswald.” 

Had Belli been able to conduct his 
cross-examination exclusively off that 
original report, he would have had*a* 
fighting chance of discrediting Dean on, 
the discrepancy between the 10-minute,’ 
interval he had testified to and the 40-) 
minute interval he had reported in, a 
security statement. } 

By the time Wade was able to bring out” 

the existence of the Late, Late Report, in 

his reexamination, it would have had. all, 
the force and validity of a belated apal-: 

ogy. The whole psychological climate 
changed, of course, when Belli demande 
ee then had to concede that it 

orable to the other side. 

|B The difference in time, Dean explains 

was due to his own original miscalcula- 

tion, Seeing a televised rerun of the events . 
§Nofithe day, and particularly the interview, 

he had realized later how quickly every- 
: = thing had happened. i 

~ Although Belli will never believe it, the 
“trap he had walked into had never been 
“set. Wade hadn't even known the secoi 

+ Beebort existed until the previous after- 
noon. Once Wade saw the date on it, he’ 
was perfectly aware that he might do- 
_ himself more harm than good with thel 
| jury by bringing it up. ae 
» If the Jack Ruby verdict is ever 
‘versed, it quite probably will be beca 

“Judge Brown allowed Dean to testify— 
“about that interview. The entire appeal _- i 

could hang upon the difference between 
a Sa10-minute time lapse and a 40-minute | 

¢ lapse. 

With Dean's testimony Henry Wade fe | 
jounced;"* Your.H ies and~ 

P gentlemen of thd!j juan nested Peele 
this time.” “readoM mo mounority 

_ Belli’s first witness was Little Lynmyia 
19-year-old stripper who had called Jack) 
from Fort Worth on Sunday, November 

24, to ask him to send her $25, The tele- 
phone-company records showed that the | 
call had been made at 10:18, an impor: ¢ 
tant point to establish right at the begin=;4 

g, since it had been announced over | 

¢ radio that Oswald was going to, be, 

oved at 10 A.M. 
Little Lynn was more than a wi | 

pregnant. She was already two days overs | 

due. “II don’t put her on,” Belli told “4 i 
court, “we may lose her as a witness.” 

She didn’t get on right away though. fe 
jailbreak happened to be taking ert 

ight outside the door—on camera—dnd 
suddenly had the case of the pregnant - 

stripper caught in a jailbreak. Upon su¢h E 

“a note the defense of Jack Ruby began. = 
At the end of the day—Little Lynn hav 
‘ing testified —Belli told the writers, “Some 

ham convict tried to upstage me... .”") 

It now fell to Mel Belli to convince 

we
mn
es
h 
e
a
m
 

~ sothe jury, that Jack Ruby,did not knowAs 
parish from:wrong at:the moment: he com! . 

t mitted an act of murder, He had put 
her a case whisgfeoked well on 

ai so His case was built in three inter- 
ie parts: 

a 1. The psychological examination (Dr. 

oy Schafer) that pointed to brain 

damage causing psychomotor epilepsy. 

2. The physical examination (Dr. 

Martin Towler) that confirmed Doctor 

Schafer’s diagnosis by demonstrating an 

abnormal brain wave. 
3. The psychiatric examinations (Drs. 

Rees 

© Manfred Guttmacher ang waiter prone 

+. © berg) that established a low emotional 

= ~ breaking point. 
—-Doctor Schafer got the medical defense 

Boff to a roaring start by testifying that the 

© conclusions he had reached as a result of 

W@his psychological examinations had been 

Sconfirmed by Ruby's electroencephalo- 

=grams. He said he had seen the EEG 

_ readings for the first time that morning, 

“and “I came to the conclusion that he 

does have organic brain damage, the 

_ most logical and specific nature of which 

is psychomotor epilepsy.” 

It developed, however, that he had not 

seen the actual brain tracings, but only | 

_the report of Doctor Towler, who had 

supervised the tests, Doctor Towler’s re- 

;port said that the EEG recordings were 

“abnormal,” although he did not use the 

words “psychomotor epilepsy.” He wrote, 

“y"This type of seizure disorder most accu-! 

_-Fately falls into the cate; of a psy- 

_-shomotor variant."”! re 

Wade started the cross-examination 
and set a high academic tone by asking, 
“After all those ink blots, did you form 

“an opinion on whether he knew right 
“from wrong?” 

Given any kind of a chance, Wade's 

style is not to engage the witness in any 
kind of dialogue but to attack him 

head-on. In examining Doctor Schafer in 
the bond hearing, where he was truly in- 
terested in drawing forth information, 
Wade had handled the language of psy- 
chiatry with competency and ease. Before 
ajury, though, Wade becomes downright 
down-country. To hear him pronounce 

githe words “schizophrenic-paranoia”™ is to 
left with the impression that he is not 
ly speaking a foreign language but that 

al the language of a country with which 

are at war. 

With Schafer he quite possibly achieved 
pinnacle of his career by stumbling 

around the words “I.Q. test”—a test not 
a really so exotic as to be unrecognizable, 
Het alone unpronounceable, to a man who 

‘graduated at the top of his law class. But 

ivall the lawyers played that game—Belli 
7fumbled nicely while questioning Schafer 
on the “thematic apperception test.” Once, 

od when Belli asked a witness to define “ex- 
*“trapolate,” a word that hadn’t been used 
‘Snore than a dozen times previously, Al- 
jilexander went one up on him by asking 
> the witness to spell it. 

The trial sparkled with such moments 

of high philosophic inquiry. When the 
“Session came to an end at seven P.M, 
1CBelli’s necktie was loose and his shirt was 
\eballooning out of the top of his pants. 
\| He looked for all the world like a prize 

Siamese who had gotten himself mixed up 
with some alley cats. 

fif]\The next day there were only two wit 
=o pe Se



Nesses, Wociur 1:owier and Voctor Gutt- 
(macher. Between them, Towler and Gutt- 
macher were the whole case presented for 

\ Sack Ruby. 
With Doctor Towler on the witness 

stand, Melvin Belli placed into evidence a 
green shoe box containing 600 feet of 

*\brain-wave! tracings, -which had been 
aifélded accordionlike'inté two books. 

~~~ Everr before the EEG tests ‘were per=" 
formed, Doctor Towler said, Ruby’s own ' 
description of the numerous head injuries ; 

he had received in the course of his brawl | 
ing life had led hint to the belief that Ruby | 

suffered from seizure disorders. Jack ack had i 

told him that from time to time he expe expe- | 
rienced painful “pricking sensations in 

the head.” During these attacks, Ruby 
told him, “Tam not as normatayl a 
posed to be. Every fra clion Of asecond 
I ft someting a5 gine to angen BS 
feel as if my head is cracking open.” adis cracking open.” 4 

Did the EEGs show Ruby had psycho~, 
motor epilepsy, Belli asked him, or didn’ 

they? “There is no way to look at 
EEG,” Doctor Towler said, “and say, 
this is the result of a head injury or re-’ 

peated head injuries.” SA 
Betti: “Does that rule in or out the 

psychomotor epilepsy?” s 
Tow ter: “It neither rules it out or in,” 

That was a surprise. This was the de- 
fense’s witness, and the burden of proof 
was upon the defense. | 

Still, Towler's diagnosis was that Jack. 
did have brain injury and did suffer fromy 
a “seizure disorder.” = 

“During a seizure a man would behave. 
= as an automaton,” Doctor Towler testi- 
“fied, “and would probably be amnesiac 
through the entire spell.” 

When Towler went to the jury box to’ 
show them the EEG’s, the actual brain- 
-wave tracings, the jury came to life for, 

the first time, those in the front row hud-! 
dling in closely around him, and those in 

© the back row craning their heads forward. 
) As Towler turned the pages, he care- 

ully pointed out each instance where the” 
wavy line broke off into a small pike. He 

Gircled these “abnormal discharges” with, 
@ red_pencil, but as the demonstration, 

dragged on, page after repetitive page, the 
. jurors began’to settle back in their seats? 

Boredom set in all over the courtroom. 
Belli, seeing interest flag, took over at 

“the end of the second book and, almost 
as an act of will, breathed life back inta 

~ the room. “Here’s another!” he'd xs) 
claim, as if they were engaged togetheri 

some great voyage of discovery, and the: 
back row of the jury would come for=, 

ard, all in rhythm, like blown whea 
, = Just what did it all come down to then. 

ade asked Towler. 

‘A seizure disorder which we refer to” 

as psychomotor variant.” 
He still hadn't uttered the words * “psy- 

chomotor epilepsy,” and Belli tried one 
ea 

j/)more time. “Ninety-nine percent o1 uns; 
type have psychomotor epilepsy?” ee 

owler agreed. ; 

he star witness for the defense, Dr.t 
Manfred Guttmacher, had been around? 
the court for a couple of days, having 
ctushed in at the behest of Melvin Belli to. 

quiet Jack Ruby down. Or, as Belli putit, 
© “Jack feels better now that he knows the 
| Mutcrackers are coming in." 
Ree [2 -He had hardly settled into the wit 

ir before Belli asked whether Jack i 
e ‘Ruby knew right from wrong at the time: 
© he killed Oswald, oe 

“I don’t think he was capable of know-. 
ig right from wrong at the time of the: 
micide,”” Doctor Guttmacher answ cred. 

“Doctor Guttmacher held the audience 
all afternoon. After all the talk a 

eke tests and brain waves, we were leaving the 
pope of machines and being told a sa | 

that sad, troubled man, Jack Ruby. 
Gi For the purposes of a trial De 
© “Guttmacher’s analysis of the fears ‘and 

inadequ at had driven Jack R 
over: the rink may'well hve-been e 
yy tivesAnd yet anyone who ha 
‘Doctor Guttmacher to sh 
“ment that had caused Ruby gc 

~ ward Oswald could only be disappointe 
We got the psychiatric jargon as the full 
‘explanation. Doctor Guttmacher read us) 

label on the, Jar; we never saw tl 

; g with an abnormal individual, with any 
normal personality structure who 

weak ego structure and was und 

of days. I think kes was stcemeting to 
his sanity during this period. I thin: 

ion, and with this disruption o 
. there was a psychotic episod 

vO." “What do you mean?” i 

and ‘his hostile, aggressive feelings came 
“to the fore, and focused on this one in- 
dividual, with the homicide resulting.” 

Q. “Is it important that seeing Oswald | } 
triggered this?” 

; - “Yes. I think it is well-established | 
“that people who have psychotic episodes” 
are subject to triggering of the act by. 

is strong emotional stimuli.” felt 
When he was asked to tell the jury-what! 

id led him to his conclusion, he said,. 
© “This patient has an abnormal back- 
E ‘ground. Is father was an illiterate i im= 

rant drunkard, and his mother and: 
| the Children were terrorized by him. They” 
were so disorganized that a social agency 

* had to_put the children in foster ho 
lack Ruby was put in-some Rall die al 

“foster homes. His mother suffered sara 
“noid schizophrentt requiring institution- 
alization. A young brotherwas- -hespital- 

“ized for. depressive psychosis, a sister had 
“inyolutional mélanctotia, which is a type 
of depressive-psychosis_somewhat-more 
frequent it in_women—than in men.” 

Jack Ruby's identification with Presi- 

dent Kennedy. was so strong,_Doctor 
Guttmacher ‘said. ‘that’ the” assassination. 
was _a destruction of his ego. The impli- 
cation seemed to be—before a squabble 

ee the ego hi tt — may have t 
itself and its sanity by committin # posi- 
tiveact of Mitirder or even, as as coniradic- 
tory as it may seem, suicide. 

But why did Jack Ruby have this un- 

usual degree of identification with Presi- 
dent Kennedy? The answer we got from 
Guttmacher was that Kennedy repre- 
sented to Ruby the idealized father, both 
in his position as the head of state and as 
the head of what seemed to be the perfect 

‘family group. And something elses* “He 

“nedy) V_ Saying, or that man.” 
| Those are the words i used. He talked 

mut him as a man in love. a 
Vhen Belli whether 

thought there was a latent homosexual 
tent in these expressions of lave, Ruby 

alert. There was, again, the parted 
. the held breath, and the slow éx- 
ation. “I think there are Suggestions 
it.” Doctor_Gutimacher said, and 

by turned his head away, in a sort of 

= ee ere 
ou could almost see his lips form 

ie next morning Belli surprised every- 
by resting his case. It was now the 

Fosecution’s turn to attack the medical 
ise, and he put only one psychiatrist on 

“the stand, Dr. John Holbrook of Dallas, 
‘to make the necessary legal point on 

" Ruby’s sanity at the time of the murder. 
His heavy artillery was leveled at what he 

felt to be the weak underpinnings of the 
~ Case, those 600 feet of brain-wave tracings 

in the green shoe box. 
‘Two days earlier, Henry Wade hadi 

| asked Doctor Towler to name the most. 
"outstanding neurologists in the country. 
The first name out of Towler’s mouth was 
| Dr. Frederic Gibbs of Chicago, who had 
_been trumpeted by Belli in court as the 
‘Breat EEG expert. The second name was_ 
‘Dr Robert Schwab of Boston. Assistant. 
>A. Bill Alexander had Schwab ready to. 

take the stand for the prosecution, He had 
a Austered a lineup, in fact, that was 

host a neurological equivalent of the New 
York Yankees, 
~Roctor Holbrook _readily conceded. 
i a had an extremely unstab 

ie Sau ic 

Fe Crom “WIOHE a ig and knew The-eon 
“quences of his act.” Holbrook also mae 
the tellifg point that Doctor Schafer’s” 
“psychological examinations, taken five: 
weeks after the act, could not be pre 
“jected back to cover the Jack Ruby wi 
‘had pulled the trigger. if 
While Psychiatrists do have their own 

we 

fil 



compensatory techniques, tne ring puny 

truth was unmistakable there. The Jack; 

fee Belore he left the stand, Doctor 
“brook also made his contribution to? 

all-out assault on the psychomo! 

“epilepsy plea. “I don't believe he wha 
i paychomotor epilepsy fromm the medica! 

f fopideence,” @ said. “I_don’t think_ 

dan diagnose psychomotor epilepsy fi 

fhe EEG alone. — oot! 

'Theattack on the EEG’s had 

launched earlier that day with the statis. 

D fead-off medical witness, Dr. Sheff Olin- 

} , in whose small Dallas clinic the test 

fad been made. “In your opinion, do tht 

readings show psychomotor variant?” 

Alexander had asked him. 
A. “Psychomotor variant is a term I 

saw for the first time in an article written 
last year by Doctor Gibbs. It is a par- 
ticular type of wave that occurs when a 
patient is drowsy or sleeping.” 

Q. “Is it a description of a brain-wave 

pattern rather than a disease ?” 

A, “It is a brain-wave pattern.” 

Now we had it, A definition of psycho- 
motor variant. And the definition was 
that it was not a disease at all. 

The next prosecution cannonball was 
fired by Dr. Peter Kellaway, 43, a small, 
crew-cut man. The EEG, he said, was 

merely a diagnostic aid. 
Q. “Is it of value without a diagnosis?” 
A. “The EEG in itself never supplies a 

diagnosis.” 
Belli could not get Doctor Kellaway to 

state flatly that he was disagreeing with 
the redoubtable Doctor Gibbs. All Kella- 
way would say was that there’ was a 
“considerable difference” in Ruby’s trac- 
ings and Gibbs's definition of psycho- 

motor variant. 

The defense seemed to have abandoned 
psychomotor epilepsy and retreated to 

psychomotor variant, and now—accord- 
ing to Doctor Kellaway—they didn’t 

even have that. 
Belli’s most brilliant gambit through- 

out the medical testimony was his use of 
Doctor Gibbs, who was unwilling to tes- 
tify except as a friend of the court. Since 
he was confident that Gibbs was never 
going to be there, Belli felt free to wave 
his name at the jury as if it were a flag, 

establishing through sheer assertion and 

repetition that Gibbs was the foremost 
medical man since Pasteur, 

Unable to move Doctor Kellaway, he 

was reduced to observing, “There is a 
great deal we don't know yet in this field. 
We've just barely scratched the surface, 
isn't that right?” 

Kettaway (curtly): “I presume so.”* 
The final_witness of the day was Dr. 

Earl Walker_of_Jobr kins,whose 
credentials set him forth as the nation’s 
leading brain surgeon. The EEG “‘bursts,”" 
Doctor Walker conceded, were unusual. 

Nothing more than that. 
Well, Belli said, if he didn't know what 

they were, then he couldn't state posi- 
tively that it wasn’t psychomotor epilepsy. 

And if he couldn't say it wasn’t, then he 

would have to say that it could be, Walker 

agreed with a shrug that indicated he 
wasn't interested in getting himself in- 

volved in that kind of semanticcountdown. 
And once again Belli was saying, “We 

haven't done enough work to know what 

we have here.” Doctor Walker was quite 
willing to agree that there was always a 

great deal more to be learned. Unfortu- 
nately, Mel Belli was charged with prov- 
ing by a preponderance of the evidence 
that the defense knew what it was talking 
about. On Wednesday, the sixth day of 
the trial, the defense had collapsed. 

Why should the top neurologists in the 
country have been so willing to take time 

out from their busy lives to come down 

to Dallas and testify against Jack Ruby? 
It is safe to say that if these same men had 
been on the jury panel, most of them 
would have disqualified themselves be- 

cause of their opposition to capital pun- 

ishment, Yet they more or less recom- 

mended each other to the prosecution and 

came almost as a team. The answer takes 
us back to Belli revealing his case at the 
bond hearing, and of the bad luck that 
has always dogged Ruby. 

The secret word here is “epilepsy.” All 

leading neurologists are members of the 
various epilepsy societies that have been 

working hard for years to erase old super- 
Stitions and prejudices and encouraging 
the public to look upon epileptics as 

normal human beings from whom society 
has nothing to fear. 

Psychomotor epilepsy is not epilepsy 

in the normal sense, as the defense had 
gone to great pains to make clear. But 
that was in the courtroom, not in the 

newspapers, The stories that came out of 
the bond hearing said, in effect, that the 
murder we had all seen over television 
with our very own eyes had been commit- 
ted by a man in an epileptic seizure. The 
experts were enraged. They were enraged, 
first of all, because they did not feel that 

Doctor Schafer had been justified in 
making such a flat diagnosis off his tests. 
(That doesn’t mean they were right and 

Doctor Schafer was wrong.) 
When they finally did get to see the 

EEG tracings—which, as far as they were 
concerned, showed nothing—they were 
even more enraged. 

The greatest’ brain specialists in the 
country came down to Dallas, when all is 

said and done, on a public-relations job. 
Before the trial had even started, when 

Towler’s report had come back without 

the word “epilepsy,” Wade had begun to 

consider the probability that Belli had 
set up a decoy. When he learned from 

Alexander that Alexander had a lineup 
of glittering witnesses who were prepared 

to pulverize psychomotor epilepsy, he 

Jurymen watch the trial intently. 

was sure of it. “It just can’t be this sim- 
ple,” he said. “Say what you want about 

Belli, he’s beaten everybody in the med- 

ical field. Maybe Mr. Belli didn’t under- 
estimate us in that bond hearing. We've 
got to assume now that while we thought 
we were setting a trap for him, he was 
setting the trap for us.” 

To the very end the prosecution was 
waiting for a trap to be sprung. To the 

very end they found it difficult to believe 
it could be that simple. 

On Thursday, March 12, the seventh 

and, it had been made clear, last day of 
the trial, Alexander still had such top 
neurologists as Doctors Schwab, Francis 

Forster and Roland Mackay. 
Doctor Schwab is a man who speaks 

with flat authority. When he said no, you 

knew the answer was no. When he said 

yes, you knew it was yes. And when he 
said he didn’t know, you knew that no- 
body knew. “I have seen this type of brain 
wave in many tests,”’ he testified. “It is 

more common in normal people than in 

people suffering from brain damage.”



Belli got nowhere with him, especially 
when he tried to wave the great Gibbs at 

him. He disagreed, he said in that voice of 

authority, with Schafer, with Towler and 

with Gibbs. 
Forster's credentials were above and 

beyond the merely academic. He had 

been called in to attend President Eisen- 
hower after his stroke, a biographical 
note that Alexander didn’t insert into the 
record more than once every minute. 

The litany rolled on: 

“There is no evidence here that this 
patient has a compulsive disorder.” 

“No, these tracings would not support 

a finding of psychomotor epilepsy or 
psychomotor variant.” 

Far from occurring in only one percent 

of the population, Doctor Forster said, 

it was a pattern that occurred in 28 per- 
cent of the population. Doctor Forster 
enjoyed himself immensely. His style was 

to preface his answers with background 
information and then illustrate them— 
you could see the schoolteacher here— 
with amusing little stories. It was per- 
fectly clear that the jury was finding him 

immensely likable, immensely entertain- 
ing—and immensely informative. 

This volunteer instructor delivered to 
us, finally, a definition of psychomotor 

epilepsy. “Psycho,” he said, means men- 

tal activity, and “motor” refers to muscu- 

lar activities. “Epilepsy” is a sudden elec- 

trical discharge from the gray matter of 
the brain. Putting it all together, psycho- 
motor epilepsy meant that both the mind 
and the body of the victim were function- 

ing, but functioning abnormally. He fa- 
vored us with an eyewitness report of a 

friend of his who leaped from his piano 
stool in the middle of a Christmas carol 
and began to play bebop and jazz. 

In psychomotor epilepsy, he empha- 

sized, the activity was always that silly 
and, except for a certain amount of em- 

barrassment, that harmless. There is no 
recall, he said. The patient himself refuses 

to believe it happened. A psychomotor 
episode, he said, could never result in the 

patient pulling out a gun, lunging at an- 

other man and shooting him. 

Roland Mackay, a mousy little man, is 
president of the American Epilepsy So- 

ciety. He testified, like the others, that the 
EEG’s were not even suggestive of psy- 

chomotor epilepsy or variant. 
Under Bellis scalpel Mackay turned 

out to be a rigid old boy who had no use 

for any of this newfangled psychological 
testing, with its inkblots and its machines, 
He had found it far more valuable, he 
said, to just talk to the patient as he was 
examining him and make his own judg- 
ment as to intellectual capacities, 

Belli approached him with a letter from 

Doctor Gibbs, his routine gambit with all 
these witnesses. The state, as always, ob- 

jected to its being read on the grounds 

that Gibps wasn t tere. 
From his seat at the defense table, 

Tonahill shouted, “Gibbs will be here!” 

Belli came whirling around, low to the 

ground, “You've just called him, Joe?” 
“Yes. We assure you he'll be here.” 
Wheeling back to the witness, Belli 

asked, with marvelously feigned conti- 

dence, ““Now will you read it?” 

Objection. 
As Wade rested his case for the final 

time, Belli requested permission to put 
Gibbs on the stand the following morn- 
ing. Judge Brown, of course, has a genius 

for asserting his powers at precisely the 
wrong time. “No,” he said, “I told you 

we were going to end it today, Mr. Belli, 
and I'm going to hold to that.” 

Belli argued his point that the jury 

Luther Dickerson, member of jury. 

shouldn't really be denied the oppor- 
tunity of hearing the world’s greatest au- 
thority. The judge, suddenly aware that 

they were talking in front of the jury, 
snapped, “Be quiet till [ get rid of—till I 
get the jury out of here, willya?” 

If we can assume that not even Joe 
Brown, in all his wisdom, had the power 

to wipe their minds clean, the jurors knew 
that the trial was being held over for an- 

other day for the sole purpose of hearing 
the testimony of The Great Gibbs. 

Understand one thing—the attorneys 
for the defense had not coaxed Gibbs 
down. Beili had built him up into such a 
mythological figure, the fount of all knowl- 
edge and wisdom, that the only way Gibbs 

could live up to his billing would be to 
materialize in court in a puff of smoke. 

But Gibbs had been up in Chicago 
reading all those terrible things his col- 
leagues had been saying about psycho- 
motor variant and the EEG’s, and he had 
called Doctor Towler and insisted upon 
coming down to defend himself. 

“ It was altogether consistent with Jack 
Ruby's journey through life that while 

Doctor Gibbs had refused to submit him- 

self to cross-examination for the sake of 
saving Jack Ruby from the electric chair, 
neither rain nor snow nor Joe B. Brown 
could keep him from coming down to 
Dallas, at his own expense, to defend his 
theories and his machine. 

In meeting with Doctor Gibbs over 
breakfast the next day, to go over his 
testimony, Belli and Tonahill had discoy- 
ered that they had a walking time bomb 
on their hands. Yes, Doctor Gibbs did 
believe that the tracings definitely showed 
Psychomotor variant and yes, he did be- 
lieve that psychomotor variant was a 
definite, if rare, type of epilepsy. No 
doubt whatsoever about that. It was what 
he didn’t believe that hit them right where 
their defense lived. Unlike the victims of 
ordinary psychomotor epilepsy, he told 
them, the victims of psychomotor variant 
remained conscious of everything they did 
throughout the attack, No, not just islands 
of memory, fully conscious. 

Belli's entire legal case—the necessity 
to establish that he did no ight 
frony wrong—had been predicated upon 
the ‘argument that Jack ha vin a 
fugue state, that is, that he Had not been - 
conscious of What he was doitig. 
Now Belli knew very well that his case 

had already fallen apart. The only ques- 
tion that remained was whether he was 
going to beat the chair. In capital cases 
Texas defense lawyers count anything less 
thanthe chair a victory, since under the 
very liberal parole system a life sentence 
really means 10 to IZ years — 
Oo the strange an times inex- 
plicable things Belli did in his handling 
of Ruby defense; the-strangest-of alt 

——. 

: / 
may well have been his examination of 
Doctor Gibbs. He asked Doctor Gibbs, 
i Aum Te a to, “Whar i you 
diagnose from Jack Ruby's EEG?" 
.Gipas: “Ruby has a particulary Very 

fare, type of epilepsy—one that does not 
manifest itself in convulsive seizures.” 

That was bad enough. But that de- 
Structive little word “not” had been tucked 
in so unobtrusively, and so close to the 
magic word “epilepsy,” that it was pos- 
sible that neither Alexander nor anybody 
else at the prosecution table would pick 
up the implications. 

Shortly thereafter Belli laid it right into 
their laps. “With this particular type of 
epilepsy,” Belli asked, “do you find after 
the attack that the patient is or is not 
generally amnesiac or has islands of 
memory?” 

Gipas: “It is extremely variable, Con- 
sciousness is commonly maintained right 
through the seizure, often accompanied 
by severe pain. The pain is often so great 
that the patient threatens to commit 
suicide.” 

He had put that question to Gibbs,



Belli told us later, only because of his 
utter contempt for. the district attorney's 

office. “I analyzed them as not being 
competent enough to pick up the impli- 
cation that if Jack had been conscious, 

our case was destroyed. And | was right.” 
He was right; they didn't pick it up. 

Such a complete abandonment—a repu- 

diation—of his case, out of his own 
__mouth, at the very end of the trial, was 

so unthinkable that everybody at the 
prosecution table had apparently heard 
the answer they were geared to hear, 

Belli, of course_couldnt be surethey 
weré going to miss it. Whether he realized 
it or_not, in his eagerness to show his — 
contempt for the people who had knocked 
‘his cars Off, he was also telling me that be 
had based his insanity plea upon a mis- 
understanding. Psychomotor variant, if 
it exists at all, apparently is not wha 
thought it was. 

y, as far as the defense 
was concerned, is that if Gibbs had been 

willing to testify from the beginning, Belli 

would have discovered the mistake and, 
presumably, abandoned the EEG ma- 
chine—as Wade expected him to—and 
gone on to build a solid psychiatric case. 
Sull, one might assume that before he did 

go ahead on the basis of a 135-word Iet- 

ter, Belli would have taken the precaution 
of flying up to Chicago to talk to Doctor 
Gibbs. 

If Alexander missed the import of one 
part of Gibbs’s testimony, he did not 

miss the fact that Belli had not asked him 

whether Ruby had known right from 

wrong at the time of the crime, Alex- 

ander did ask that question and, of 
course, Gibbs could have no opinion. 

Doctor Gibbs left the stand at 10 a.m., 
and the testimony in the case of the State 
of Texas vs. Jack Rubenstein, alias Jack 
Ruby, had come to an end. 

After a 10-hour recess, Joe Brown read 
his charge in the toneless, ratchety way 

that comes when the words do not quite 

carry the tone and color of the total mean- 
ing. Ruby leaned back onto the rear legs 

of his chair for perhaps the first time in 

the entire trial, coming forward only 
when the judge began to instruct the jury 
on the law of insanity. Now that it was 
over, he seemed more relaxed than he had 
been for weeks. 

After the long, weary and wearing day 
of delay, there was a sense of unreality as 

the lawyers arose, one by one, to stand 

before the jury box and shout out their 

final arguments. 

Each side had two and a half hours’ 
worth of summation to split up as it saw 
fit, with the district-attorney’s office, as in 
all states, having both the first and last 
words. Seven lawyers addressed the jury 
over the next five hours in styles which 

~held, for the most part, to a sort ot early 

high-school commencement, featuring— 
on the prosecution side—a great deal of 
whirling and pointing and condemning 
in the style of, “You, Jack Ruby!” 

Even here at the end the tension built 
to the climactic moment when Belli would 
step in front of the jury box for this one 
last chance to summon up the magic 
words that would save Jack Ruby’s life, 

“Here in the early hours of the morn- 
ing,” he began, “when great discoveries 
have been made in garrets and basements, 

let us try to rediscover a justice that has 
never really been lost in your great city.” 

He had audacity. With his case shot 

from under him, Belli'stood there on the 
burning deck and asked the jury not fora 
compromise verdict but for an acquittal. 
“You know he can’t get Veterans Ad- 

ministration treatment if he has a felony 
on him.” 

Henry Wade, the man who always gets 

ed in capital 
punishment. “We bel you then, We 
believe you now.” __ 

The law, he told them, is a chain which 
begins with the police and ends with The 

kind of conduct.” Here at the end Henry 
Wade was telling them to contemplate 

the image of Dallas.Most of all, though, 
he hammered at the theme closest to his 
heart, “Set this man loose, and you'set 
civilization bask a Tavadred yen . And 
you set it back to lynch law,” - 

The case was given over to the jury at 
1:06 a.m. They began their deliberation 
at 9:15 am. * 

It has been said that the jury should 
have stayed out longer, if only for the 
sake of appearance. At the same time, 

something should be said in their de- 
fense. After they heard the summations, 

they retired for the night, but there cannot 
be much doubt that they pondered some 
more before they went to sleep. They had 

the case, not for two hours and 19 min- 

utes, but for 25 hours and 35 minutes. 
Having said all that, it is also true that 

they quite probably could have given 
their verdict without leaving the box. 

From what we could find out, they took 
only three votes: 

1. Guilty or not guilty. 

2. Sane or insane. 
3. Death or less than death. 
For Ruby the trial had been a torture 

chamber, Whatever his reasons for killing 
Oswald might have been, it was not to 

hear himself being called “a mental de- 

fective” and “a goof.” [t was not to hear 
his lawyer tell the jury that “he came 
from bad stock.” Nor.was it to hear his 
friends, the cops, come in, one after the 
other, to nail him to the chair.If Ruby 
was sure of one thing, it was, as he told 
Doctor Guttmacherthar “all the patice 
department loved me. "Oswa at least, 
died with the image of himself—whatever__ 
‘that_weird, hauntedimage might have 
been— en—intact. The trial not only stripped 
Ruby bare of every shred of dignity, it” 
ripped away the painfully constructed 
protective network that had Kept him 
sane. This is an odd thing to-say, but at 
the end hehad- the too a man who 
had_been violated. 

The more cerebral and self-assured 
among the journalists had been writing, 
with a terrible air of sanctimony, that 
we had to give “this poor miserable speci- 
men,” his day in court, one of those 
dreadfully moralistic and self-preserving 
excesses that destroys what it is presum- 
ing to preserve. 

Jack was not a specimen. He was not 

a useable aU Looking at Ruby, yiting Cooking-at Ruby 
objectively, he was a man who despite al- 
most disabling personal pro had 
always gird mself up and-gene-back 
out to fight the world. He had managed 
through most or hisadult life to take care 
of not only himself but of his sister, 
Eva Grant, 

Teawas the trial itself that degraded gnd 
debased him. He became a specimen_to 
the experts, the sport of lawyers. Before 
the professionals were finished, there was 
not a man in the courtroom who did not 
feel superior to him, The ultimate dis- 
position of Jack 7 

a perplexing question: What happens if a 
defendant whois legally sane as the trial — 
begins is driven mad by t _ 

ac uby had his day in court, all 
right. Unlike Lee Oswald, he was given 
the full protection of due process of law. 
It would have been kinder to have stoned 
him to death. THE END 
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